### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: Jun 16 2023

02:36PM EDT

**Transaction ID 70212796** 

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Plaintiff below, Respondent,

v. Supreme Court No.: 23-86

Case No. 22-F-130

Circuit Court of Kanawha County

GAVIN BLAINE SMITH,

Defendant below, Petitioner.

### **PETITIONER'S BRIEF**

Matthew Brummond
Appellate Counsel
W.Va. Bar No. 10878
Public Defender Services
Appellate Advocacy Division
One Players Club Drive, Suite 301
Charleston, WV 25311
(304) 558-3905
Matt.D.Brummond@wv.gov

Counsel for the Petitioner

##

### ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

In Petitioner's first degree murder trial, sentencing was not a jury question because children under eighteen automatically receive mercy. His defense did not contest identity, but asked jurors to find a less culpable mental state.

Did the circuit court err by instructing jurors that if they voted for the most serious degree of homicide, it would sentence Petitioner to parole eligibility after fifteen years?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

At no point in Gavin's trial did anyone contest that, as a youth, he killed his stepfather, mother, and two younger brothers.<sup>1</sup> The only issue was the *why*. The State theorized that Petitioner premeditated and killed with malice so he could be with his girlfriend, who, via video chat, egged him on during the act.<sup>2</sup> Defense counsel argued that Petitioner's stepfather abused him, and that Petitioner's fear and isolation only intensified during the pandemic.<sup>3</sup> Quarantine robbed Petitioner of any refuge and trapped him with his abuser until, finally, he snapped.<sup>4</sup>

Petitioner now appeals because the State had an unfair advantage persuading jurors to find a more culpable mental state. Even though sentencing was not a jury issue,<sup>5</sup> the court instructed on the statutory punishment.<sup>6</sup> It told jurors that if they voted to convict Petitioner of four first degree murders, the court would sentence him to fifteen years to life.<sup>7</sup>

It is much easier to condemn a young person if you know their fate will soon rest with the parole board.<sup>8</sup> Because sentencing should have played no part in the jury's deliberations, Petitioner asks the Court to reverse for a new trial.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A.R. 278.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A.R. 273–78; A.R. 393.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> A.R. 278–92.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Id.; see also Syl. Pt. 4, State v. Harden, 223 W. Va. 796, 679 S.E.2d 628 (2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See W. Va. Code § 61-11-23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> A.R. 677–79.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See State v. Parks, 161 W. Va. 511, 516, 243 S.E.2d 848, 852 (1978).

### A. Petitioner repeatedly fled his abusive household but CPS failed to intervene.

On September 6, 2020, Petitioner's parents reported him as missing.<sup>9</sup> The responding officer found the situation odd.<sup>10</sup> His parents knew Petitioner was likely at his grandfather's home that Sunday afternoon, yet they considered him a runaway.<sup>11</sup> The parents had reported him as running away under similar circumstances many times before.<sup>12</sup> And so, when the officer found him at his grandfather's home—just six miles away—he asked the sixteen-year-old about his home life.<sup>13</sup>

Petitioner told the officer he wanted to stay with his grandfather.<sup>14</sup> He wanted to go to school, but his parents would not allow him to return to in-person classes.<sup>15</sup> Instead they made him responsible for his two-year-old brother's daily care.<sup>16</sup> Petitioner also told the officer that his parents restricted food access to him and his siblings by padlocking cabinets, doors, and the refrigerator/freezer.<sup>17</sup>

Based upon his interview of Petitioner and his grandfather, the officer advised they could file a domestic violence petition.<sup>18</sup> If they filed one, Petitioner may be able to stay with his grandfather instead of returning home.<sup>19</sup> But that would be up to them. The officer would not determine that on their behalf.<sup>20</sup>

The officer returned Petitioner to his parents, then referred the matter to CPS.<sup>21</sup>
The record does not show whether CPS investigated or offered the family services.<sup>22</sup>
Six months later, Petitioner shot his parents and two brothers.<sup>23</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> A.R. 578–79.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> A.R. 581–82.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> A.R. 580.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> A.R. 581.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> A.R. 582.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> A.R. 587.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> A.R. 582.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> A.R. 587.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> A.R. 580; A.R. 582.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> See A.R. 586.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> A.R. 278.

# B. Petitioner's now ex-girlfriend encouraged him to kill his family, then pled guilty to accessory after the fact to avoid trial for quadruple murder.

The State called numerous witnesses establishing the uncontested issue of identity.<sup>24</sup> As to Petitioner's mental culpability, the State's main fact witness was Petitioner's former girlfriend and codefendant.<sup>25</sup> She testified that she and Petitioner met in high school and began dating.<sup>26</sup> Soon after, the COVID lockdown ended in-person classes and social distancing separated them.<sup>27</sup>

Even after lockdown conditions relaxed, neither family approved of the relationship and disallowed the two from seeing or communicating with one another.<sup>28</sup> However, they maintained contact by sneaking phones and other devices behind their parents' backs.<sup>29</sup>

One topic the witness and Petitioner discussed was his difficulties at home.<sup>30</sup> The exgirlfriend knew Petitioner had tried running away many times.<sup>31</sup> Petitioner was angry he could not get away and ideated about killing his family.<sup>32</sup> Petitioner and his ex-girlfriend believed they could then be together.<sup>33</sup> She did not recall whether she tried to contact CPS,<sup>34</sup> but she encouraged Petitioner to contact an online counselor: an adult he could "talk to about what's going on at home."<sup>35</sup>

When that did not work, she encouraged Petitioner to kill his family. On December 9, 2020, the couple were video chatting.<sup>36</sup> Petitioner showed her a gun and knife and said he wanted to kill his parents.<sup>37</sup> She encouraged him to do it: "hurry up and do it."<sup>38</sup> The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> See A.R. 195-96.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> A.R. 367-68.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> A.R. 369–70.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> A.R. 370–71; A.R. 407–08.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> A.R. 372–75; A.R. 377.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> A.R. 375-76; A.R. 382-83; A.R. 408-11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> A.R. 418; see also A.R. 415.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> A.R. 381.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> A.R. 382.

 $<sup>^{33}</sup>$  *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> A.R. 420.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> A.R. 419.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> A.R. 383.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> A.R. 384.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> A.R. 393.

screen went black for a few moments, then Petitioner returned to say it was over.<sup>39</sup> He biked to his girlfriend's home where he stayed until his arrest.<sup>40</sup>

The defense crossed-examined the ex-girlfriend with the deal she received for cooperating.<sup>41</sup> The State originally charged her on four counts of first degree murder for encouraging Petitioner.<sup>42</sup> In exchange for her cooperation, the State allowed her to plead to accessory after the fact.<sup>43</sup> For encouraging Petitioner's ideation in the months leading up to the killing and goading him as he carried out the act, she received a ten year sentence.<sup>44</sup> She became parole eligible in June of 2023 with a projected release date in 2025.<sup>45</sup>

To highlight the bargain's value, the defense asked what she understood the possible sentence would be if she proceeded to trial on the murder charges. <sup>46</sup> She answered imprecisely, <sup>47</sup> and the State objected that jurors may believe a guilty verdict would result in a life without mercy sentence. <sup>48</sup> The defense agreed to an instruction to explain the witnesses' testimony. <sup>49</sup> The court told jurors that "with regards to first degree murder with regards to juveniles, juveniles are not subject to being in prison for the rest of their life, they are actually eligible for parole after 15 years." <sup>50</sup>

The defense then asked, "[d]id you have an understanding through counsel, that the murder charge carried a life sentence ... possibility of parole after 15 years?" The ex-girl-friend said yes.<sup>52</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> A.R. 385-86.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> A.R. 390–91; A.R. 395.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> E.g. A.R. 397-00.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> A.R. 399.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> A.R. 397; A.R. 403.

<sup>44</sup> A R 308

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> *Id.*; See DCR Database, <a href="https://apps.wv.gov/ois/offendersearch/doc/">https://apps.wv.gov/ois/offendersearch/doc/</a>, (search Offender ID (OID) Number "3671373," complete website validation entries, click "Search").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> A.R. 405.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> *Id.*; A.R. 425.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> A.R. 426.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> A.R. 427.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> A.R. 427-28.

# C. Over objection, the court instructed jurors on the statutory penalty if they convicted Petitioner of first degree murder.

At the charge conference, the State was no longer satisfied with the instruction agreed to during the ex-girlfriend's testimony.<sup>53</sup> The prosecutor said he was concerned jurors would think a life sentence was not possible.<sup>54</sup> And that instruction had been in the abstract.<sup>55</sup> The State wanted one that told jurors what *Petitioner's* punishment would be if *they* convicted him.<sup>56</sup>

The defense objected.<sup>57</sup> The possible penalties Petitioner would face should not concern jurors and should play no role in their deliberations.<sup>58</sup> Petitioner objected both to an instruction tied to Petitioner and any discussion of sentencing during closing argument.<sup>59</sup>

The court gave the State's instruction.<sup>60</sup> Just prior to telling jurors how to pick a foreperson and conduct their deliberations, the last substantive instruction jurors heard was:

[I]f you find the Defendant, Gavin Smith, guilty of First Degree Murder, the Defendant will be confined to the penitentiary of this state for life ... and as a juvenile when these subject acts occurred, he will be eligible to be considered for parole after serving a minimum of 15 years."<sup>61</sup>

The judge also explained factors governing parole.<sup>62</sup>

In rebuttal closing, the State argued, "For you to reduce a first degree murder to second degree murder, or voluntary manslaughter in this case, means you didn't follow the law ... Because this young man is a juvenile, if you convict of first degree murder, it will be a life sentence, but guess what?" The defense objected. This was exactly Petitioner's fear about instructing jurors on penalties. 65

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> A.R. 630-31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> A.R. 630-31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> A.R. 631-32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> A.R. 632.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> See A.R. 632-33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> A.R. 634–36.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> A.R. 677-78.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> A.R. 678-79.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> A.R. 721.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> A.R. 721–22.

The court sustained the objection, so instead the prosecutor finished by reminding jurors they would have a copy of the instructions to read themselves if they had any concerns.<sup>66</sup>

Those instructions stated that if jurors convicted Petitioner of first degree murder, the court would sentence him to life but with parole eligibility.<sup>67</sup> The charge did not warn jurors that the future consequences of their verdict were irrelevant to their deliberations.<sup>68</sup>

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

No one disputes the power of juries to nullify, but Petitioner is unaware of any jurisdiction in the United States that approves of jurors acquitting to avoid a penalty they see as too harsh.<sup>69</sup> The same rule applies when prosecutors "attempt to alleviate the anxiety or reluctance to convict by minimizing the jury's sense of responsibility for its decision."

This Court settled the matter when it reversed in *State v. Guthrie*: "The universal rule is that punishment is the trial court's role and is not a proper matter for the jury."<sup>71</sup> The error is even more prejudicial when jurors learn about the penalty from the judge rather than the prosecutor because "it carrie[s] the authority of the court."<sup>72</sup>

No one would dispute that this was a difficult case. The uncontested facts are heinous. Jurors understandably struggled with the *why*, and whether Petitioner's mental state mitigated his culpability. But that was their sole and solemn duty. To ease that burden by shifting responsibility for Petitioner's fate to the parole board deprecates both the crime's gravity and the jury's vital role.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> A.R. 722.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> A.R. 677–78.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> See generally A.R. 643-82.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> See Lawrence W. Crispo et. al., Jury Nullification: Law Versus Anarchy, 31 Loy. L.A. L. Rev. 1, 4, n. 9 (1997).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Bennett L. Gershman, *Prosecutorial Misconduct*, 609 (Thompson Reuters, 2nd Ed. 2021–22).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> State v. Guthrie, 194 W. Va. 657, 678, 461 S.E.2d 163, 184 (1995); accord. Shannon v. U.S., 512 U.S. 573, 579 (1994).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> State v. Parks, 161 W. Va. 511, 516, 243 S.E.2d 848, 852 (1978).

### STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioner, who turned nineteen a month before this writing, is facing the very real possibility of spending the rest of his life in prison. This alone justifies the Court's attention.

Moreover, it is well-established—not only by this Court, but the great weight of authority across the country—that in the United States, jurors should not know the penalty that will result from their verdict.<sup>73</sup> It is irrelevant to their application of fact to law. Knowing the sentence can only serve to distort deliberations by impressing that they could work an injustice, or as happened here, do the opposite and shift ultimate responsibility for the defendant's fate to another body.

Finally, the case warrants oral argument because it is a rare opportunity to write on a an important subject.<sup>74</sup> Criminal penalties tend to ratchet upwards, and so proponents of jury nullification envision it as a defense tool.<sup>75</sup> But when jurors acquit or hang because the punishment does not fit the crime, the State cannot appeal.<sup>76</sup> The Court can use this case to further articulate that the same rule governs defendants and the State.<sup>77</sup>

Jurors should not acquit because the penalty is too harsh, nor should they over-convict because the penalty is too lax. No party, and certainly not the judge, should inform them of the verdict's consequences.

Petitioner therefore requests a Rule 19 argument and a signed opinion reversing and remanding his case for a new trial.

<sup>76</sup> Cf. Judge Pamela Baschab, Jury Nullification: The Anti-Atticus, 65 Ala. Law. 110, 111 (2004) (expressing judicial frustration caused by nullification).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> See Lance Cassak & Milton Heumann, Old Wine in New Bottles: A Reconsideration of Informing Jurors About Punishment in Determinate-and Mandatory-Sentencing Cases, 4 Rutgers J.L. & Pub. Pol'y 411, 412 (2007) ("[C]alling it a general practice understates the matter; it is more of a hard and fast rule with few exceptions.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> Lawrence W. Crispo et. al., *Jury Nullification: Law Versus Anarchy*, 31 Loy. L.A. L. Rev. 1, 3 (1997).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup>See Cassak, 4 Rutgers J.L. & Pub. Pol'y at 412; Jeffrey Bellin, Is Punishment Relevant After All? A Prescription for Informing Juries of the Consequences of Conviction, 90 B.U. L. Rev. 2223 (2010).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> The error below deviates from the norm so much that only one West Virginia case is truly on point. It is from 1978 and concerns a misdemeanor. *See Parks*, 161 W. Va. at 511.

### **ARGUMENT**

Blackletter law and sound policy counsel against informing jurors of the legal consequences of their verdict.<sup>78</sup> The punishment range is irrelevant to their fact-finding mission and can have no effect but to encourage nullification, either for or against the accused.<sup>79</sup>

Here, the court had no legal basis to instruct jurors that a guilty verdict would mean a life with mercy sentence.<sup>80</sup> The State's aborted rebuttal argument shows that automatic mercy could induce jurors to find a greater degree of culpability, or undervalue their role in assuring a just outcome.<sup>81</sup> And the serious nature of this case only made it more crucial that neither party invite jurors to nullify, let alone the court.

# I. The trial court should not have informed jurors that the parole board, rather than their verdict, would ultimately determine Petitioner's fate.

"The jury's sole function in a criminal case is to pass on whether a defendant is guilty as charged based on the evidence presented at trial and the law as given by the jury instructions. The applicable punishments for the lesser-included offenses are not elements of the crime[.]"<sup>82</sup> The State may not inform jurors of the penalties to suggest a guilty verdict will not be significant or that ultimate responsibility for assuring fairness lies elsewhere.<sup>83</sup> Nor can the defense use a harsh sentence to seek leniency.<sup>84</sup> It is even worse when jurors learn about the sentence from the judge. Then "the error is more substantial since it carrie[s] the authority of the court."<sup>85</sup>

This Court's review is *de novo*. Unless mercy is a jury question,<sup>86</sup> it is improper as a matter of law to inform the jury of the consequences that will result from its verdict.<sup>87</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> See Parks, 161 W. Va. at 515; State v. Lindsey, 160 W. Va. 284, 287, 233 S.E.2d 734, 736 (1977).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> Shannon, 512 U.S. at 579.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> A.R. 677–78.

<sup>81</sup> See A.R. 722 ("I should be able to argue the instructions.").

<sup>82</sup> Guthrie, 194 W. Va. 657 at Syl. Pt. 8.

<sup>83</sup> See id. at 678.

<sup>84</sup> Syl. Pt. 3, State v. Johnson, 187 W. Va. 360, 419 S.E.2d 300 (1992).

<sup>85</sup> Parks, 161 W. Va. at 516.

<sup>86</sup> See State v. Reeder, \_\_\_ W. Va. \_\_\_, n. 3, \_\_\_ S.E.2d \_\_\_, n. 3 (W. Va. 21-0554, June 12, 2023); Lindsey, 160 W. Va. at 290.

<sup>87</sup> See Guthrie, 194 W. Va. at 678.

The court's instruction is so outside the norm that it is without contemporary precedent in West Virginia. 88 But in 1978, the Court addressed this issue in *State v. Parks* and reversed. 89 There, the court instructed that if jurors convicted, the defendant would receive probation. 90 Here, the court instructed that if jurors convicted, Petitioner would be eligible for parole in fifteen years. 91

Both instructions—the one in *Parks* and the one here—implicate the same policy concern: "[I]nstructions of the trial judge dealing with the possibility of parole foster the dual vice of foisting upon the jury alien issues and concomitantly diluting its own sense of responsibility." Both instructions violate the same rule: "It is the duty of the jury to determine the guilt or innocence of the accused in accordance with the evidence introduced at the trial and it must not concern itself with matters of possible parole or probation." And both instructions warrant reversal. "[I]t is reversible error for a trial court to advise the jury that a suspended sentence will follow from a guilty verdict."

The illegal instruction concerning the consequences for *Petitioner* stands in stark contrast to the proper instruction given during the State witness's testimony. There was nothing wrong or unusual with Petitioner's cross-examination of his former girlfriend. <sup>95</sup> Codefendants often face the same charges, and Petitioner had the right to confront the witness with her interest in testifying. <sup>96</sup> That included the magnitude of the deal that induced her. Pleading to accessory after the fact allowed her to see the board in months rather than fifteen years. <sup>97</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> See People v. Karika, 48 A.D.3d 980, 981, 851 N.Y.S.2d 731, 732 (2008) (Finding it "inexplicabl[e]" that the trial court had bucked the well-established rule by hinting at a lenient sentence). <sup>89</sup> See Parks, 161 W. Va. at 516.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> See id. at 515.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> A.R. 677-78.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup> Parks, 161 W. Va. at 516.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>93</sup> See id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup> *Id.* at 515; *cf. Lovely v. U.S.*, 169 F.2d 386, 391 (4th Cir. 1948) (error to instruct jury that life sentence would make defendant parole eligible after fifteen years).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup> See, e.g., A.R. 405.

<sup>96</sup> See Giglio v. U.S., 405 U.S. 150, 154 (1972).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> See supra at n. 45.

Nor was the State's concern at that time improper. To understand the witness's testimony, the jury needed to know the penalty she had avoided. And it was appropriate for the court to instruct jurors—limited to that context.<sup>98</sup>

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