# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 23-86

SCA EFiled: Jul 31 2023 02:23PM EDT Transaction ID 70523579

#### STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

V.

GAVIN BLAINE SMITH,

Petitioner.

#### **RESPONDENT'S BRIEF**

Appeal from the January 24, 2023, Order Circuit Court of Kanawha County Case No. 22-F-130

#### PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

ANDREA NEASE PROPER SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 1900 Kanawha Blvd., E. State Capitol, Bldg. 6, Ste. 406 Charleston, WV 25305 Telephone: (304) 558-5830 Facsimile: (304) 558-5833 State Bar No. 9354 Email: Andrea.R.Nease-Proper@wvago.gov

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The lower court did not abuse its discretion in giving the requested jury instruction. The instruction properly informed the jury of the penalty for first degree murder and is in accordance with West Virginia law stating that the jury should be informed of the penalty in a first degree murder case. Further, the instruction served only to clarify a previously given and agreed-upon instruction. Finally, Petitioner's claim that this instruction led to his first degree murder conviction is unavailing when considering the damning evidence against him. Petitioner's convictions should be affirmed.

#### STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure 18(a)(3) and (4), oral argument is unnecessary because the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and the record. Accordingly, this case is appropriate for resolution by memorandum decision.

#### ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of review

A trial court has "broad discretion" in the formulation of jury instructions, and the relevant determination is "whether the charge, reviewed as a whole, sufficiently instructed the jury so they understood the issues involved and were not mislead by the law." Syl. Pt. 4, in part, *State v. Guthrie*, 194 W. Va. 657, 461 S.E.2d 163 (1995). "Deference is given to a trial court's discretion concerning the specific wording of the instruction, and the precise extent and character of any specific instruction will be reviewed only for an abuse of discretion." *Id*.

# B. The jury instruction in this case was proper as a matter of law, served as a clarification on a previously issued and agreed-upon instruction, and did not prejudice Petitioner.

Petitioner argues that the State may not inform jurors of the penalties that may result from a guilty verdict. Pet'r's Br. 8. Petitioner, however, does not address the fact that first degree murder is a clear exception to this rule, and that the instruction complained of was merely a repetition of an agreed-upon instruction given earlier in the trial. Further, Petitioner's arguments presuppose that the jury ignored the vast amount of evidence supporting a first degree murder conviction in this case and, instead, focused on Petitioner's parole eligibility in finding him guilty of three counts of first degree murder.

This issue actually arose twice during the trial. The first time was during Walker's testimony when she was asked if she knew "that the sentence for murder is life" with regard to her own prior charges. App. 425. The State expressed concern that the jury would be led to believe "that [Petitioner] will receive a life sentence if he is convicted of first degree murder" when, under West Virginia law, Petitioner would be eligible for parole because he was a juvenile at the time of the crime. App. 426. The State requested a clarifying instruction to the jury, to which Petitioner's counsel agreed. App. 426-27. The jury was then instructed as follows: "[t]he Court will instruct the jury with regards to first degree murder with regards to juveniles, juveniles are not subject to being in prison for the rest of their life, they are actually eligible for parole after 15 years." App. 427.

During discussions on jury instructions, the State expressed concern that the instruction during trial that Petitioner was not facing a life sentence and would be eligible for parole after 15 years had confused the jury. App. 630-31. Thus, the State prepared "an instruction explaining about parole eligibility and the factors of the [sic] parole board would consider before granting

parole." App. 631. The instruction was offered to clarify that the sentence would be life imprisonment, not 15 years of imprisonment. App. 631. Petitioner objected, stating that the prior limiting instruction was sufficient. App. 632. Petitioner argued that there was no reason to repeat the instruction and requested there be no mention of sentencing during closing argument. App. 632-33. The State rebutted that argument, stating that the jury was left with the impression that the greatest sentence possible was 15 years. App. 633. The instruction given read as follows:

[I]f you find the Defendant, Gavin Smith, guilty of First Degree Murder, the Defendant will be confined to the penitentiary of this state for life . . . and as a juvenile when these subject acts occurred, he will be eligible to be considered for parole after serving a minimum of 15 years of his sentence. The fact that the Defendant is eligible to be considered for parole does not guarantee his release after serving 15 years.

App. 678. This instruction was amongst almost 40 transcript pages of jury instructions. App. 643-

82. The issue was not brought before the jury again.

Although the general rule is that matters of parole or probation should not be before the

jury, State v. Parks, 161 W. Va. 511, 516, 243 S.E.2d 848, 852 (1978), the analysis in a first degree

murder case is different. This Court recognized as much in *Guthrie* when it found:

our cases are not entirely consistent in reference to the relevance of penalty evidence and penalty comment during closing arguments. We believe our prior rulings can be placed into two broad categories. The first category concerns cases involving a recommendation of mercy. We have said, for example, in first degree murder cases, it is the mandatory duty of the trial court to instruct the jury that it may add a recommendation of mercy to such verdict and to explain to the jury the legal implications of such a recommendation.

194 W. Va. at 677–78, 461 S.E.2d at 183–84. The *Guthrie* opinion post-dates the decision Petitioner relies upon in *State v. Lindsey*, 160 W. Va. 284, 233 S.E.2d 734 (1977), by almost two decades. Even then, *Lindsay* dictates that "[t]he jury should be told the consequence of a recommendation of mercy in a case." *Id.* at 293, 233 S.E.2d at 739. The *Lindsay* reasoning applies in this case, though, as this Court was concerned about the jury misunderstanding the law and

reversed on that very ground. *Id.* at 292, 233 S.E.2d at 739. *Lindsay* specifically noted that jury concerns over when a defendant would be paroled are legitimate, and, thus, in first degree murder cases, the jury should be properly informed of such matters. *Id.* As this Court noted, "[t]he jury is the trier of the facts and 'there is no presumption that they are familiar with the law." *Id.* at 291, 233 S.E.2d at 739 (quoting *State v. Loveless*, 139 W.Va. 454, 80 S.E.2d 442 (1954)). This is precisely why the second instruction was given in this matter.

The State, and the court, expressed concerned that the jury was confused and/or misled by the initial instruction and, accordingly, properly crafted an explanatory instruction. App. 630-31. This Court has stated that "[a] verdict should not be disturbed based on the formulation of the language of the jury instructions so long as the instructions given as a whole are accurate and fair to both parties." Syl. Pt. 6, *Tennant v. Marion Health Care Foundation*, 194 W.Va. 97, 459 S.E.2d 374 (1995). Moreover, "[w]hether facts are sufficient to justify the delivery of a particular instruction is reviewed by this Court under an abuse of discretion standard. In criminal cases where a conviction results, the evidence and any reasonable inferences are considered in the light most favorable to the prosecution." Syl. Pt. 12, *State v. Derr*, 192 W. Va. 165, 451 S.E.2d 731 (1994).

Even though Petitioner was transferred to adult jurisdiction, he was a juvenile when he shot his family. As this Court has noted, "the law treats juveniles differently than others." *Ogden Newspapers, Inc. v. City of Williamstown*, 192 W. Va. 648, 654, 453 S.E.2d 631, 637 (1994). The jury was informed properly that the law in this case would treat Petitioner differently. This likely alleviated any jury question that someone who had not yet reached the age of 20 would not be forced to spend his entire life in prison with no hope of parole.

Keeping the relevant legal standard in mind, the lower court did not err in giving the second, clarifying instruction. The court had to ensure that the jury was properly instructed as a

matter of law, and knew the correct punishment in this case, as punishment in a first degree murder case is relevant. Whether a trial court's instructions improperly coerced a verdict "necessarily depends upon the facts and circumstances of the particular case and cannot be determined by any general or definite rule." *State v. Blessing*, 175 W. Va. 132, 134, 331 S.E.2d 863, 865 (1985). The facts and circumstances of this case dictated an additional instruction, clarifying the first instruction. This Court has specifically found error when a trial court failed to clarify a jury's misunderstanding of an issue, and, thus, failure to issue the second instruction in this case would have surely been reversible error. See, i.e., *State v. Davis*, 220 W. Va. 590, 596, 648 S.E.2d 354, 360 (2007) (finding that "the court committed error by failing to clarify the jury's misunderstanding of the law"); *Moran v. Atha Trucking, Inc.*, 208 W. Va. 379, 388, 540 S.E.2d 903, 912 (1997) ("a properly worded instruction serves to clarify issues for the jury's benefit" (citation omitted)).

More importantly, the jury had already been instructed on the very same issue, with the approval of Petitioner's counsel. Following Walker's testimony, the jury was instructed that "with regards to first degree murder with regards to juveniles, juveniles are not subject to being in prison for the rest of their life, they are actually eligible for parole after 15 years." App. 427. This instruction was given after Rebecca W.'s testimony but did not specify the correct sentence. As the State opined, "the jury may think that he can only get 15 years for first degree murder, and we're concerned that the jury would be confused about that." App. 631. Thus, a clarifying instruction was necessary to correct the earlier instruction that could easily lead to the jury being confused.

Additionally, this information was before the jury for the majority of the trial and was only repeated amidst pages and pages of jury instructions given to the jury at the close of the case.

11

Petitioner's counsel even agreed to the initial instruction. App. 427. "Jury instructions are reviewed by determining whether the charge, reviewed as a whole, sufficiently instructed the jury so they understood the issues involved and were not mislead by the law. A jury instruction cannot be dissected on appeal; instead, the entire instruction is looked at when determining its accuracy." Syl. Pt. 4, in part, *Guthrie*, 194 W. Va. 657, 461 S.E.2d 163. The instructions as a whole show that the jury was properly instructed in this matter. The complained-of instruction was but a small portion of the instructions, and was a correct statement of law. When reviewing the instructions, and the case, as a whole, this instruction was not sufficient to reverse Petitioner's conviction.

Petitioner argues prejudice, claiming that the jurors in this case were "divert[ed]" "from their structural role." Pet'r's Br. 11. Petitioner's arguments presume that the jury ignored the evidence in this case and only convicted him of three counts of first degree murder because they chose to "punt" to the parole board. There is no support to this argument. Rather, the record belies this argument, as the jury not only had vast amounts of evidence to support the first degree murder conviction, but also found Petitioner guilty of a lesser included charge regarding the murder of Gage, showing that they carefully reviewed the evidence as to each count and did not simply reach a verdict based on one jury instruction.

The evidence supported all elements of first degree murder in this case. This Court has repeatedly held that "the elements that separate first degree murder and second degree murder are deliberation and premeditation in addition to the formation of the specific intent to kill." *Guthrie*, 194 W. Va. at 673–74, 461 S.E.2d at 179–80 (citation omitted). *Guthrie* explains that "[d]eliberation and premeditation mean to reflect upon the intent to kill and make a deliberate choice to carry it out." *Id.* at 674, 461 S.E.2d at 180. While there is "no particular amount of time" required for premeditation or deliberation, "there must be at least a sufficient period to permit the

accused to actually consider in his or her mind the plan to kill. In this sense, murder in the first degree is a calculated killing as opposed to a spontaneous event." *Id*.

As Petitioner aptly notes, there was no question as to who committed these crimes. Pet'r's Br. 11. Petitioner also aptly notes that if jurors believed the State, "they could legitimately convict Petitioner as charged"; if, instead, they believed Petitioner, then the jury would find him guilty of a lesser included offense. Pet'r's Br. 11. This is precisely what occurred here.

Petitioner showed the gun to Walker over video chat and discussed his plan with her. App. 384. There is no greater evidence of premeditation than discussing the murders he intended to commit with a third party. Then, Petitioner methodically shot his mother and stepfather while both were sleeping in their bed, with his stepfather still connected to a CPAP machine. App. 466. The medical evidence showed that the shootings were "execution style" being less than an inch from each adult's head. App. 538-42, 547. Petitioner next shot his younger brother, which the jury found no evidence of deliberation or premeditation for that shooting and, thus, convicted him of second degree murder. App. 727. Finally, Petitioner found his three-year-old brother hiding under a bed, pulled the mattress up, and shot the child in the head. App. 337-38, 476-77. These facts lend to no other conclusion than a first degree murder conviction.

•Petitioner presented absolutely no evidence to mitigate the intent portion of first degree murder. While Petitioner made passing references to alleged abuse in the home, no proof was presented of said abuse and no proof of provocation or anything that would lessen the degree of murder as to Risa, Dan, or Jameson. No testimony of any witnesses referenced abuse. On the other hand, there was evidence that Petitioner murdered his parents to be with his teenage girlfriend. His girlfriend testified that the two discussed Petitioner wanting to kill his family so that they could be together. App. 382. Walker specifically testified that she wanted Petitioner to kill his parents so that the two could be together. App. 417. Walker did not testify to any knowledge of Petitioner being abused, but only noted that Petitioner was "having a rough time at home" because he "didn't like being told what to do." App. 418.

Likewise, Petitioner presents no evidence that the jury was somehow distracted or swayed by the instruction into sentencing him to first degree murder. The record belies this contention, because the jury clearly thoughtfully deliberated on each count and did not issue a blanket first degree murder conviction. In fact, the jury found Petitioner guilty of the lesser-included offense of second degree murder with relation to his shooting of Gage. App. 727.

Petitioner's arguments of prejudice based on the jury instruction are but a red herring to distract from the massive amount of evidence lending only to support the jury's convictions on three first degree murder counts. Accordingly, Petitioner's convictions and sentence should be upheld.

### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent respectfully asks this Court to affirm the circuit court's order sentencing Petitioner on four counts of murder and one count of presentation of a firearm in the commission of a felony.